#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 84612

Electronically Filed Oct 31 2022 02:24 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **APRIL PARKS**

Appellant,

v.

#### THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Appeal from Amended Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Tierra Jones, District Court Judge District Court Case No. C-17-321808-1

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

James A. Oronoz, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6769
Oronoz & Ericsson, LLC
9900 Covington Cross Drive, Suite 290
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144
Telephone: (702) 878-2889

Facsimile: (702) 522-1542

jim@oronozlawyers.com
Attorney for Appellant

I.

## NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In support of Parks' Alford Plea, the State alleged that she operated her company, "A Private Professional Guardian, LLC" ("AAPG") as a criminal enterprise to commit the "numerous" crimes alleged in the Indictment. AA II 393. In entering the plea, she agreed to pay restitution and chose to retain the right to argument instead of a stipulated sentence of eight (8) to twenty (20) years. AA II 376.

None of Parks' 270 charges alleged any kind of physical abuse or negligent treatment. AA II 418. They primarily involved billing. AA II 433. Although charged with Exploitation of an Older/Vulnerable Person, under NRS 200.5092 and 200.5099 the term "exploitation" refers solely to <u>financial</u> exploitation. AA II 419 (citing *Vallery v. State*, 118 Nev. 357, 46 P.3d 66 (2002)).

The State asserted that Parks and Simmons "exploited by largely a billing scam," allegedly overbilling for visits, social security visits, shopping trips, court filings and banking visits, and unnecessary services. AA III 458; AA II 370. The State identified and described seven of APPG's overbilling "schemes," including the total loss allegedly resulting from each scheme and the number of victims

1 in 2 v 3 A 4 p 5 d 6 d 4 8 c

impacted. AA II 393 - AA 399. The State did not, however, identify specific victims of these schemes or allocate specified amounts of loss to any individuals. AA II 393 - AA 399. For example, in the "Christmas gift scam," Parks supposedly purchased low-cost gifts for wards and then charged exorbitant visitation or delivery fees for the items. This scheme allegedly resulted in a \$1,507.50 loss to 48 victims. AA II 396. In another, the "mortuary and toilet paper scam," on one occasion, Parks' co-defendant apparently billed \$1,600 to 12 individuals for picking up cremated remains or delivering toilet paper. AA II 396.

The State's allegations of Parks' malfeasance went far beyond the crimes she pleaded to. It asserted that Parks and her codefendants, Mark Simmons and Gary Taylor, victimized more than 150 elderly individuals, only some of whom actually needed guardianship. AA II 406. The State also accused Parks of having abandoned wards and acted in a "ghoulish" manner by hoarding the cremated remains of some clients in a storage unit. AA II 453-454, 475. She was not charged with crimes related to either. The defense provided reasonable explanations for why Parks had become unable to care for her wards and why she retained the ashes of some clients. AA II 477-478. It has also provided evidence that, contrary to the State's assertion that some of Park's guardianships were unnecessary, "every single request for guardianship was supported by the diagnosis of a medical provider" who substantiated the need for the guardianship. AA V 896.

As the face of APPG, Parks was vilified by both the State and the media. AA II 429. The defense acknowledged that Parks, as Managing Member of APPG, had failed in her duties to supervise her employees. AA II 434. However, both the defense and the State highlighted that Simmons was not just intricately involved in the company, but in billing, specifically. AA III 459, 462, 480; AA II 428-429. A former APPG employee compared him to "air traffic control" because he maintained files, managed the billing, and stayed on top of the banking." AA I 189-190. The State concurred, saying Simmons "was the one calling the shots" when it came to billing and instructed everyone to practice "duplicate billing." AA III 457-458. Although Simmons was "fully...involved in all the billing scams" that Parks was, he was shielded from the same level of culpability and notoriety because he was not the figurehead of the organization. AA III 464.

On the Division of Parole and Probation's Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI Report"), Parks received a probation success probability score of sixty-six (66) – for which probation is generally recommended – but it recommended parole eligibility for Parks after sixty-four (64) months served. The State argued for the "maximum" sentence, with all counts running consecutive to each other. AA III 455. Calling its restitution figure of \$559,205.32 "an extremely large sum of money," the State used this amount to justify a harsher sentencing request. AA II 412. In its Sentencing Memo, the State declared, "...the appropriate sentence for a

1

3

4 5

6

7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

person who steals \$559,205.32 from elderly victims ... is the maximum sentence." AA II 407.

At the Sentencing Hearing, nine people gave victim impact statements. Throughout the course of these speakers, Parks was called a "devil in disguise," "Hitler," a "Lilith," a "predator of the worst kind," a "racist predator," a "sociopath," and a "master of manipulation," among other things. AA III 521, 528, 532, 544, 552, 555, 556. No one requested less than maximum time for Parks and her co-defendants.

In the Amended Judgment of Conviction, the district court ordered \$554,397.71 in total restitution and assigned specific amounts to thirty-eight (38) named victims to be paid jointly and severally by Parks and her two co-defendants. AA II 369-370. The identified victims are as follows: \$3,820.14 to Clyde Bowman, \$5,134.40 to Delmond Foster, \$6,346.30 to Delores Smith, \$4,528.00 to Harold Lockwood, \$6,032.50 to James Poya, \$4,766.37, to Janice Mitchell, \$5,766.75 to Juanita Graham, \$11,582.40 to Marlene Homer, \$2,705.39 to Mary Vitek, \$4,533.20 to Norbert Wilkening, \$167,204.49 to Dorothy Trumbich, \$1,413.60 to Adolfo Gonzalez, \$3,804.49 to Carolyn Rickenbaugh, \$2,830.50 to Gloria Schneringer, \$2,622.62 to Kenneth Edwards, \$5,806.97 to Roy Franklin, \$6,262.48 to Marilyn Scholl, \$10,708.45 to Marie Long, \$2,074.80 to Rennie North, \$5,563.60 to Patricia Smoak, \$2,016.30 to Rudy North, \$13,180.67 to Ruth

1 | ] 2 | 3 4 | 5 6 | 7

Braslow, \$4,183.08 to Walter Wright, \$9,470.80 to William Brady, \$4,807.61 to William Flewellen, \$3,699.28 to Yoshiko Kindaichi, \$15,068.18 to Norman Weinstock, \$6,920.00 to Maria Cooper, \$4,290.00, to Kenneth Cristopherson, \$5,396.40 to Joseph Massa, \$2,497.20 to Blanca Ginorio, \$8,149.70 to Daniel Currie, \$4,311.20 to Rita Lamppa, \$895.00 to Barbara Neely, \$3,819.60 to Audrey Weber, \$32,006.72 to Baxter Burns, \$3,445.26 to Linda Phillips, \$25,278.57 to Mary Woods and/or John and Sally Den. AA II 369-370.

No other victims are referenced or identified in the Amended Judgment of Conviction. The aggregated amount of enumerated losses attributable to the named victims is \$412,943.02. Thus, the remaining \$141,454.69 was not associated with any victims.

X.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Although Parks failed to timely object to the district court's restitution order, she maintains the right to appeal the issue because plain error affected her substantial rights in a manner that caused actual prejudice. In violation of due process and state law, the district court ordered a restitution award of \$141,454.69 more than the amount necessary to compensate victims for losses arising from Parks' charged crimes. This plain error caused actual prejudice and a grossly unfair outcome, in part because it significantly increased the length of time repayment

6

7 8

9

10

11

12

14

13

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23

24

would take, but also because the State had used this inflated restitution award to persuade the court that Parks deserved the maximum prison term. In this way, plain error arguably affected Parks' "substantial rights" by effectively imposing a fine and resulting in a longer prison term.

The trial court abused its discretion by ordering \$554,397.71 in restitution without establishing a sufficient basis for that amount and by failing to use reliable and accurate information in its calculation. While \$412,943.02 was allocated in precise amounts to specific victims, as required by law, no justification was offered for the remaining \$141,454.69. In addition, inaccurate and unreliable information was either knowingly or negligently relied upon by the State in calculating the enumerated victims' losses. More than once, documented repayments Parks had previously made to victims were disregarded when restitution awards were calculated. Reliance on such inaccurate data tainted the State's restitution recommendation. Because the district court relied upon – indeed adopted – this recommendation based on impalpable or highly suspect evidence in its sentencing decision, prejudice to Parks resulted. Thus, the district court abused its discretion.

The prison term imposed was so grossly disproportionate to the offenses charged that it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of federal and state law. Proportionality review requires a fact-specific inquiry informed by objective factors. Parks pleaded guilty to solely non-violent crimes, and she has no 1 | cri
2 | eff
3 | ser
4 | der
5 | Par
7 | Cor
8 | pur
9 | Th

criminal or incarceration history. Her age is such that the prison term imposed may effectively be a life sentence. Because this threshold comparison suggests that the sentence is grossly disproportionate, it must be considered in comparison to other defendants convicted for comparable crimes, within and outside of the jurisdiction. Parks' sentence was found to be significantly higher than most theft-related cases. Considering these objective factors together, Parks received an unusually severe punishment tantamount to a life sentence for a non-violent first-time offender. Thus, this sentence is so grossly disproportional to the crimes committed as to shock the conscience.

Parks submits the district court erred in ordering this restitution amount and prison sentence and respectfully requests this Honorable Court grant this appeal.

#### XI.

### **ARGUMENT**

1. DESPITE PARKS' FAILURE TO TIMELY OBJECT TO THE DISTRICT COURT'S RESTITUTION ORDER, SHE MAINTAINS THE RIGHT TO APPEAL THE ISSUE BECAUSE PLAIN ERROR AFFECTED HER SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS

Failure to timely object in district court generally precludes appellate review of the issue unless the appellant demonstrates that plain error affected their "substantial rights." *Santoyo v. State*, 458 P.3d 1075 (Nev. App. 2020) (citing *Jeremias v. State*, 134 Nev. 46, 50, 412 P.3d 43, 48 (2018). An error is "plain" if it is apparent from a "casual inspection of the record." *Gholson v. State*, 135 Nev.

5

67

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

2324

646 (Nev. App. 2019) (quoting *Williams v. Zellhoefer*, 89 Nev. 579, 580, 517 P.2d 789, 789 (1973). Such errors affect a defendant's substantial rights when they cause "actual prejudice" or a "miscarriage of justice," defined as a "grossly unfair outcome." *Jeremias v. State*, 134 Nev. 46, 412 P.3d 43, 49 (2018).

The Due Process Clause requires that restitution be awarded only to victims of the charged offense(s) in a "just" amount "supported by a factual basis within the record." Burt v. State, 445 S.W.3d 752, 758 (Tex. Crim. App. 2014). In addition, NRS 176.033 (1)(c) requires the district court to "set an amount of restitution for each victim of the offense." Restitution cannot be set in "uncertain terms." Botts v. State, 109 Nev. 567, 569, 854 P.2d 856, 857 (1993). The purpose of restitution is to compensate the victim for costs arising from a defendants' criminal act. Martinez v. State of Nevada, 120 Nev. 200, 202–203, 88 P.3d 825, 827 (2004). It must only be used to reimburse victims for injury or expense directly resulting from the crime. Id. at 11. Defendants may only be ordered to pay restitution for offenses to which they have admitted, been found guilty, or have agreed to pay restitution. Erickson v. State, 107 Nev. 864, 866, 821 P.2d 1042, 1043 (1991). Thus, under both due process and State law, a trial court must only award restitution (1) in specific amounts, (2) to identified victims, (3) to repay them for costs incurred by the defendant.

The Tenth Circuit reversed a district court's restitution order that exceeded the actual loss caused by the defendant's conduct because it was "an illegal sentence constituting plain error." *United States v. James*, 564 F.3d 1237, 1243 (10th Cir. 2009) (citing *United States v. Smith*, 156 F.3d 1046, 1057 (10th Cir. 1998). A sentencing court must make a "reasonable determination of appropriate restitution rooted in a calculation of actual loss" as supported by evidence in the record. *Id.* at 1242, 1247 (internal citations omitted). Because Nevada law similarly mandates that restitution be factually supported and used only for compensation, this case is instructive for our purposes.

Here, the \$141,454.69 excess awarded, without any explanation or support, also constitutes plain error. Although initially charged with numerous other crimes, Parks only pleaded guilty to the charges in the Amended Indictment. The State identified the victims of these crimes and allocated specific amounts of restitution to each. Because the total restitution amount ordered by the district court far exceeded the aggregated amount of these victims' losses, the \$141,454.69 contravenes applicable law, regardless of its rationale. Furthermore, this amount – about thirty-four percent (34%) greater than enumerated losses – is readily apparent with a "casual inspection of the record" and a calculator.

This plain error did yield actual prejudice and a grossly unfair outcome.

Parks will now spend many years of her life paying "restitution" for unknown

1 lo
2 na
3 th
4 se
5 th
7 th
8 av
9 ar
10 th
11 th

losses incurred by non-existent victims. Punitive, rather than compensatory in nature, this is more accurately called a "fine." In addition, because the State used this "extremely large amount" of restitution to justify the "maximum" prison sentence, this error also arguably affected the length of Parks' incarceration. By this logic, a larger restitution figure reflects greater harm caused by the defendant, thus necessitating harsher punishment. Because artificially inflating the restitution award does not change the actual amount of harm the defendant caused, though, any impact it has on the length of the prison sentence is grossly unfair. Whether the State's argument influenced the district court's decision cannot be proven, but the court clearly found the State persuasive as it adopted the restitution amount the State provided and ordered a much longer sentence than what PSI Report recommended.

Thus, Parks' substantial rights were affected by this plain error and she has maintained her right to raise this issue on appeal.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ORDERING \$554,397.71 IN RESTITUTION WITHOUT ESTABLISHING A SUFFICIENT BASIS FOR THAT AMOUNT AND BY FAILING TO USE RELIABLE AND ACCURATE INFORMATION IN ITS CALCULATION

## A. Standard of Review

The standard of review for sentencing decisions is abuse of discretion. Chavez v. State, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 490 (2009). Under NRS

176.033(1)(c), restitution is a sentencing determination. *Martinez*, 115 Nev. at 12. Courts will not interfere with sentences imposed so long as the record does not demonstrate "prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Lloyd v. State, 94 Nev. 167, 576 P.2d 740 (1978); Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 545 P.2d 1159 (1976). Courts have found sentencing recommendations to be based on impalpable or highly suspect evidence when reliance on subjective scoring, scoring errors, or factual errors "tainted" PSI recommendations. Narcho v. State, 459 P.3d 884 (Nev. App. 2020); Blankenship v. State, 132 Nev. 500, 375 P.3d 407, 409 (2016). Such errors might include a misrepresentation of the defendant's criminal history, a miscalculation of their time served, or a misrepresentation of their gang affiliations. Narcho, 459 P.3d 884 (Tao, J., dissenting). Prejudice resulted when courts relied on these tainted recommendations in making sentencing decisions. Blankenship, 375 P.3d at 409.

Due Process places limitations on courts, requiring that they award restitution only (1) for offenses for which the defendant is criminally responsible, (2) for victims of the defendant's charged offense(s), and (3) in just amounts supported by a factual basis within the record. *Burt*, 445 S.W.3d at 758. Defendants have a constitutional right to sentencing based on accurate information. *United States v. Tucker*, 404 U.S. 443, 447, 92 S. Ct. 589, 30 L. Ed. 2d 592 (1972). More

specifically, sentencing courts must use reliable and accurate information in calculating restitution. *Martinez*, 115 Nev. at 13. Defendants have a right to present evidence challenging the amount of restitution sought. *Id*.

Parks alleges that the validity of her restitution order fails in two ways: (1) The \$141,454.69 in excess of enumerated victim losses is baseless and predicated upon impalpable and highly suspect evidence, and (2) the remaining \$412,943.02 is also erroneously inflated because the court used inaccurate and unreliable information in calculating restitution.

#### B. The Unexplained Excess of \$141,454.69

As discussed above, the record provides no rationale or justification for ordering \$554,397.71 in restitution when the losses incurred by victims of Parks' charged crimes totaled only \$412,943.02. In fact, when defense pointed out the \$141,454.69 discrepancy in a prior petition, the State offered no explanation in response; it simply said that the Order had not been objected to. AA V 960.

The lack of sufficient – or any – basis provided for the excess indicates that this restitution amount was ordered for impermissible reasons and in a manner inconsistent with Due Process. Because the excess \$141,454.69 was awarded for purposes other than compensating victims of Parks' charged crimes for substantiated losses, it is unclear what information or accusations informed this

decision. Arguably, it is aimed to punish Parks for uncharged crimes and malfeasance, and/or to compensate victims of those criminal or unethical acts.

Both the State and victims alleged that Parks committed "numerous" other crimes for which she was either never charged or that were dropped before she pleaded. *See* AA II 393; AA III 494-556. Beyond criminal activity, though, they clearly believed Parks was simply a bad person, as evidenced by the many colorful names she was called during victim impact statements. The State also alleged that she had shown no remorse despite "ruining the lives of countless victims and causing immeasurable strife in society." AA II 414. After listening to the victim statements at the sentencing hearing, the judge told Parks that her behavior was "absolutely shocking," citing accusations that victims had made of wards under Parks' care having scotch-taped shoes and being charged for getting Christmas gifts. AA III 563.

In the absence of any apparent evidence justifying the inclusion of this \$141,454.69, one can only speculate as to what information or accusations were relied upon in making this determination. It would be reasonable to conclude that the vitriol and contempt with which Parks is met by every other party involved in this case has influenced the size of this reward. Regardless of the exact rationale, the reliability and veracity of any underlying facts are highly questionable given the biased and subjective nature of potential sources. As in other cases where

appellate courts found sentencing decisions to be based on impalpable or highly suspect facts, the State's sentencing recommendations in this instance were clearly tainted by subjectivity, ambiguity, and erroneous facts. Because the court relied upon this recommendation in making its decision, prejudice resulted.

#### C. The Inflated Remainder of \$412,943.02

The \$412,943.02 in aggregated losses of enumerated victims is also bloated because the court used inaccurate and unreliable information in calculating restitution.

In *Nied v. State*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 30, 509 P.3d 36 (2022), the defendant entered a guilty plea in which he agreed to pay restitution. He appealed the restitution decision, asserting that evidence presented at the sentencing hearing did not support the amount ordered. *Id* at 40. He argued that restitution for the victim's medical costs should be determined not by the amount initially billed, but the amount accepted by the provider as payment in full. *Id* at 39. The court agreed, emphasizing that "restitution is intended to compensate the victim for costs and losses caused by the defendant"; nothing more. *Id* at 38. It held that the district court had abused its discretion in using costs not supported by the State's evidence to calculate restitution. *Id* at 40. Although the victim had "clearly suffered serious

the award and remanded the case. *Id* at 40.

and extensive injuries that resulted in significant medical costs," the court vacated

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