#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

APRIL PARKS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 29 2022 01:44 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 84612

Respondent.

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Amended Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JAMES A. ORONOZ, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006769 Oronoz & Ericsson, LLC 9900 Covington Cross Drive, Suite 290 Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 (702) 878-2889

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Parks argues the restitution order was inaccurate constituting plain error and the district court abused its discretion ordering it. However, counsel did not object at the trial level, waiving the issue. In addition, the restitution is correct as counsel fails to recognize Parks' other case. Furthermore, Parks alleges that her sentence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant has filed a Motion to Transmit Presentence Investigation Report, Respondent now joins said Motion.

constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. However, Parks' sentence is within the legal framework mandated by statute. Because the restitution order is appropriate and was agreed to, and the sentence is not cruel and unusual punishment, this Court should affirm Parks' Amended Judgment of Conviction.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. PARKS HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED PLAIN ERROR TO OVERCOME WAIVER

#### a. Restitution issues are waived due to failure to object.

During the duration of this case, defense counsel never objected to the amount of restitution. "A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." <u>Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown</u>, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). Therefore, the issue of the amount of restitution is not preserved and only reviewable for plain error. <u>See Jeremias v. State</u>, 134 Nev. 46, 55, 412 P.3d 43, 52 (2018) ("Because the objection below was on a different basis than the claim asserted on appeal, we review for plain error.").

Parks "agreed to pay full restitution in an amount of \$559,205.32, jointly and severally between myself . . ." in her signed Guilty Plea Agreement, which defense counsel never objected to. II AA 376. In addition, Parks orally agreed to the same amount when entering her plea, which defense counsel never objected to. II AA 354–

55. Again, Parks was ordered to pay the same amount at sentencing, which defense counsel never objected to.<sup>2</sup> III AA 564.

#### b. Parks has not demonstrated plain error.

Parks argues the alleged plain error of the restitution amount affected her substantial rights. Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 10–13. Parks admits that

Second, Parks claimed her counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the restitution amount at the sentencing hearing. In the guilty plea agreement, Parks agreed to be responsible for paying more than \$500,000 in restitution for this case and a separate criminal case. At the sentencing hearing, counsel acknowledged that the restitution agreed to in the plea agreement encompassed this case and Parks' additional case. The sentencing court subsequently imposed restitution in accordance with the guilty plea agreement. In light of the guilty plea agreement, Parks did not demonstrate that her counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness by failing to challenge the restitution amount at the sentencing hearing. Parks also failed to demonstrate a reasonable probability of a different outcome had counsel objected to the restitution amount. Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err by denying this claim without considering it at the evidentiary hearing.

Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and Remanding Case No. 82876-COA. V AA 1021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Parks previously appealed the denial of her Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus where the Nevada Court of Appeals ruled counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the restitution amount at the sentencing hearing.

she failed to timely object so the challenge to the restitution order is waived and is

subject only to plain error review. AOB at 10. Plain error review asks:

"To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record."" <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. \_\_, \_\_, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. 43, 49, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015).

At a casual inspection of the record, there is no error regarding the amount of restitution. First and most importantly, Parks alleges \$141,454.69 excess was awarded without any explanation or support. AOB at 12. This is belied by the record. "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). At sentencing the district court judge asked to clarify if the restitution was an aggregate total of both of Parks' cases, as the other (C-18-329886-2 - Sealed) was to run concurrent to the instant case. III AA 455; II AA 376. Defense counsel then agreed that the "500 and something thousand dollars" would satisfy the whole restitution. III AA 455. Additionally, as noted in footnote 2, the Nevada Court of Appeals

recognized the amount of restitution that was agreed to in the plea agreement encompassed this case and Parks' additional case. V AA 1021.

Second, counsel never objected to the restitution amount after having worked on the case for nearly two (2) years. Third, the Indictment states each amount stolen from each victim extensively through the two hundred and seventy (270) counts listed in accordance with NRS 176.033(3). II AA 227-348. NRS 176.033(3) provides the Court's authority to order restitution: "The restitution provision contained in NRS 176.033 authorizes courts, when sentencing defendants convicted of offenses for which imprisonment is required or permitted by statute, to 'set an amount of restitution for each victim of the offense." Erickson v. State, 107 Nev. 864, 866, 321 P.2d 1042, (1991). Fourth, "[A] defendant may be ordered to pay restitution only for an offense that he has admitted, upon which he has been found guilty, or upon which he has agreed to pay restitution." Id. As argued *supra* Section I (a), Parks "agreed to pay full restitution in an amount of \$559,205.32, jointly and severally between myself . . ." in her signed Guilty Plea Agreement. II AA 376. In addition, Parks orally agreed to the same amount when entering her plea. II AA 354– 55. Last, the district court called a Clarification of Restitution Hearing to amend the Judgment of Conviction as to restitution because one victim had been named twice. III AA 573. In addition, at this hearing it was stated:

THE COURT: Okay. So we will strike the second order of restitution for Mr. William Flewellen so that would make

the total of restitution that is owed by each defendant \$412,943.02 and that will be jointly and severally between all the defendants and it's ordered in all the cases. MR. GOLDSTEIN: Your Honor, could we approach. THE COURT: Yes. (Bench conference.) THE COURT: Okay. So the Court was wrong in their calculation. So the new restitution figure that is owed by the defendants is \$554,397.71 to be paid jointly and severally by all the defendants in all of the cases.

III AA 573–74. Therefore, even when the district court attempted to bring the restitution down to more in line with the arguments of the AOB, Parks' attorney called a bench conference to correct the court. III AA 574. It can be assumed that her attorney was reminding the court of her other case. Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 43 & n.4, 83 P.3d 818, 822 & n.4 (2004) (appellant is ultimately responsible for providing appellate court with portions of the record necessary to resolve claims on appeal); M&R Investiment Company, Inc. v. Mandarino, 103 Nev. 711, 718, 748 P.2d 488, 493 (1987) ("It is [Appellant's] ... responsibility...to make and transmit an adequate appellate record to this court. When evidence upon which the lower court's judgment rests in not included in the record, it is assumed that the record supports the district court's decision.); Greene v. State, 96 Nev. 555, 558, 612 P.2d 686, 688 (1980) ("The burden to make a proper appellate record rests on appellant."). In addition, counsel for the co-defendants never objected as well. III AA 572–74. Concluding, there is no plain error.

///

#### c. The amount of restitution did not result in prejudice.

Parks argues, ". . . because the State used this 'extremely large amount' of restitution to justify the 'maximum' prison sentence, this error also arguably affected the length of Parks' incarceration. By this logic, a larger restitution figure reflects greater harm caused by the defendant, thus necessitating harsher punishment." AOB at 13. However, Parks then admits, "Whether the State's argument influenced the district court's decision cannot be proven. . ." AOB at 13. But then goes onto say, ". . . but the court clearly found the State persuasive as it adopted the restitution amount the State provided and ordered a much longer sentence than what PSI Report recommended." AOB at 13. This argument is belied by the record.

First, the court did not "adopt" the restitution amount the State provided. While the state calculated the amount, Parks agreed to pay it in her Guilty Plea Agreement, and so the court went with her signed agreement. II AA 376. In addition, as stated before, the court clarified the amount at sentencing and it was stipulated to. III AA 455, 464.

Last, the court did consider the recommendation of Parole and Probation in Parks' PSI, and found it to be "not accurate." III AA 563. In fact the court said,

> These people that have Scotch tapped their shoes together, these people that are being charged for getting Christmas gifts, these people that don't have food to eat, how is that not bringing harm to them. And to hear from the people who actually are able to be present today is just absolutely shocking to me that you continued in this

behavior. And you went to court and these documents were filed and at no point did anything occur to you until this investigation happened that this is absolutely not appropriate. The actions that you took in this case are just downright offensive. I have no idea how parole and probation only thinks that you deserve 64 months on the bottom, because that is absolutely not accurate and that is absolutely what is not about to happen today.

III AA 563. Clearly, the amount of prison time was not determined by the amount of restitution, it was determined by the "downright offensive" actions of Parks. Therefore, the amount of restitution did not result in prejudice as the amount was agreed to and the court made its decision based on Parks' actions in this case and the other. III AA 563–65.

#### II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION

#### a. The "excess" restitution amount.

Parks argues there is an unexplained \$141,454.69 in the restitution order. AOB at 15–17. As argued above, this amount goes to a global negotiation within Parks' two cases. At sentencing the district court judge asked to clarify if the restitution was an aggregate total of both of Parks' cases, as the other (C-18-329886-2 - Sealed) was to run concurrent to the instant case. III AA 455; II AA 376. Defense counsel then agreed that the "500 and something thousand dollars" would satisfy the whole restitution. III AA 455. Additionally, as noted in footnote 2, the Nevada Court of Appeals recognized the amount of restitution that was agreed to in the plea agreement encompassed this case and Parks' additional case. V AA 1021. The agreement in case C-18-329886-2 cannot be discussed as it is sealed.

#### b. The silent record supports the district court's restitution order.

Further, Appellant's failure to make a record and include the material in the record by making a proffer, asking that they be made an exhibit or by filing them justifies summary denial of the claim. Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 43 & n.4, 83 P.3d 818, 822 & n.4 (2004) (appellant is ultimately responsible for providing appellate court with portions of the record necessary to resolve claims on appeal); M&R Investiment Company, Inc. v. Mandarino, 103 Nev. 711, 718, 748 P.2d 488, 493 (1987) ("It is [Appellant's] ... responsibility...to make and transmit an adequate appellate record to this court. When evidence upon which the lower court's judgment rests in not included in the record, it is assumed that the record supports the district court's decision.); Greene v. State, 96 Nev. 555, 558, 612 P.2d 686, 688 (1980) ("The burden to make a proper appellate record rests on appellant."). In this case, to have a proper argument against the \$141,454.69 from Parks' other case, it was her duty to motion that the agreement be unsealed and included in the record of this case, rather than not taking a proper look at the record to recognize this number does in fact have "rationale or justification."

///

///

15

#### c. The restitution calculation.

Parks argues that two of the victims' restitutions were not calculated correctly. AOB at 18. Regarding Ms. Trumbich, Parks alleges that \$50,000 was repaid to her estate prior to this case. AOB at 18. However, that is not entirely accurate. Parks fraudulently took guardianship over Ms. Trumbich and took control of her assets amounting to \$167,204.49. I AA 96. In the short three (3) months that Parks had guardianship over Ms. Trumbich before her death, Parks paid herself around \$117,000. I AA 96–97. "When the guardianship concluded April Parks ultimately sent a check for around \$50,000 back to [Ms. Trumbich's] estate once it went to probate court." I AA 97 (emphasis added). Parks provides no evidence of a check, and if it does exist it was only returned to the estate after Ms. Trumbich's death when the probate court would have noticed it was gone. "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.

Regarding Mr. Burns, Parks alleges there is evidence that an \$8,529.84 return had already been received by victim Mr. Burns. AOB at 18. However, Parks only cites to a prior Appellant's Opening Brief written by another attorney. The statement of an attorney is not evidence. <u>Rudin v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 121, 138, 86 P.3d 572, 583 (2004). In addition, Parks does not provide such evidence of payment and the failure to do so is fatal because a silent record is presumed to support the decision below. <u>M&R Investment Company, Inc. v. Mandarino</u>, 103 Nev. 711, 718, 748 P.2d 488, 493 (1987); <u>Schouweiler v. Yancey Co.</u>, 101 Nev. 827, 712 P.2d 786 (1985); <u>Carson Ready Mix v. First Nat'l Bk.</u>, 97 Nev. 474, 476, 635 P.2d 276, 277 (1981); <u>Raishbrook v. Bayley</u>, 90 Nev. 415, 416, 528 P.2d 1331, 1331 (1974); <u>Kockos v. Bank of Nevada</u>, 90 Nev. 140, 143, 520 P.2d 1359, 1361 (1974). Parks again asserts an insufficient "bare" and "naked" allegation. <u>Hargrove</u> at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.

Thus, the restitution order was calculated correctly. Additionally, as argued above, Parks agreed to the restitution in her Guilty Plea Agreement. II AA 376.

# **III. PARKS' SENTENCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT**

Parks argues that her prison sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. AOB at 19–24. The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." <u>Allred v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting <u>Blume v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (quoting <u>Culverson v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979).

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